IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE				
	OCT	12	1992	
CLERK, SUPREME COURT				
Ву_	Chief	Deputy	Clerk	

JESSIE SIRMONS,)
Petitioner,	
vs.) CASE NO. 80,545
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Respondent.	
	<i>)</i>

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

UAMES R. WULCHAK
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 249238
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner was convicted, <u>inter alia</u>, of both grand theft auto and robbery with a weapon for the single taking by force (at knifepoint) of the victim's automobile. <u>Sirmons v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 17 FLW D1826 (Fla. 5th DCA July 31, 1992). (Appendix A)

On appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, the petitioner maintained that the dual convictions for robbery and grand theft auto were violative of double jeopardy since there was a single taking. <u>Id</u>.

While the district court agreed that there was but one taking, the court approved of the multiple convictions. Citing Rodriquez v. State, 500 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1986), receded from in Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and State v. Smith,

547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989), the district court applied the Blockburger¹ test to hold that the dual convictions were proper since second degree grand theft requires an additional element (value or, as here, the automobile element) not contained in the crime of robbery. Sirmons v. State, supra. The district court refused to grant relief from the dual convictions for this sole reason despite recognizing that this Court, in the unanimous decision of Johnson v. State, 597 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1992), indicated that the core or nuclear elements of theft is what controls in a double jeopardy claim and the crime is actually defined by subsection (1) of the theft statute² alone and not by reference to subsection (2) which merely defines the degrees of the crime. Sirmons v. State, 17 FLW at D1827.

The petitioner timely filed a Motion for Rehearing or Suggestion that Question be Certified to this Court. (Appendix B) On August 28, 1992, the district court denied the motion. (Appendix C) A notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed on September 28, 1992. This proceeding follows.

¹Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

²§ 812.04, Fla. Stat. (1989).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court directly and expressly conflicts with decisions of this Court on the same issue of law. The court's opinion follows a conflicting line of cases which misinterprets and fails to follow the correct state and federal constitutional analysis which would preclude dual convictions for a single criminal act wherein the same core elements are present (and the only differing elements are those defining the degree of the crime).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, IN <u>SIRMONS V.</u>

<u>STATE</u>, 17 FLW D1826 (Fla. 5th DCA July 31, 1992), EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA.

The opinion of the Fifth District in the instant case, as recognized in that opinion, follows one line of cases which directly conflicts with another line of cases, causing further confusion among the precedents on the issue of double jeopardy and identity of offenses. This holding, if allowed to stand, would allow courts (and the legislature, in defining offenses) to ignore the clear prohibition of the Florida and federal constitutions against double jeopardy.

In the instant case, the petitioner was charged and convicted of both armed robbery and grand theft auto for one act of taking the victim's car at knifepoint. The district court even recognized that there were not two separate factual instances giving rise to the dual offenses; rather, the court said that the offenses were predicated on the single act of taking the automobile. Sirmons v. State, 17 FLW D1826 (Fla. 5th DCA July 31, 1992). The court, however, in deciding that the single act constituted two separate crimes looked no further than the test announced in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), that if there are unique elements in the two statutory crimes, then multiple convictions are allowed. This holding conflicts with numerous cases form this Court which hold that a strict

Blockburger test is not the end of the double jeopardy analysis.

In this Court's recent case of <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 597
So.2d 798 (Fla. 1992), this Court did not apply the strict

<u>Blockburger</u> test for all of the elements of grand theft in
concluding that multiple convictions were prohibited for grand
theft of a firearm and grand theft of cash where there was only
one act of taking the victim's purse. Rather, the Court found
that the core or nuclear elements of theft, i.e. the taking of
another's property without their consent, contained in Section
812.014, Florida Statutes, **subsection** (1), are the elements
defining the nature of the crime for double jeopardy analysis.
The elements contained in subsection (2) of that statute merely
set forth the degree of the crime.

The theft occurred when Johnson wrongfully took the property of another. He did this in one swift motion. The degree of the crime of theft depends on what was taken. Because of the value of the property, his crime was a thirddegree felony. Because part of the goods he took was a firearm, his crime additionally is defined as a third-degree felony. Subsection 812.014(1), Florida Statutes (1989), defines the crime of theft, and subsection 812.014 (2) sets the degree of the crime committed under subsection (1). We conclude that the value of the goods or the taking of a firearm merely defines the degree of the felony and does not constitute separate crimes. A separate crime occurs only when there are separate distinct acts of seizing the property of another.

See also Foster v. State, 596 So.2d 1099, 1103-1113 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (Cowart, J., dissenting), disc. rev. granted, Fla. Sup. Ct.

Case No. 79,950. Just as in <u>Johnson</u>, the value or nature of the goods was not considered in determining whether multiple offenses were committed; so here, too, value or nature of the stolen items may not constitute the additional, unique element to differentiate the taking for the armed robbery and the taking for the grand theft. Rather, the crime of theft (whether it be grand or petit) is subsumed into, and is a lesser offense of, the crime of robbery (a theft with force). Robbery is simply an enhanced form of theft.

The Court also indicated in Johnson that the single taking in one swift action cannot form the basis for two convictions. Similarly, this Court indicated in Cleveland v. State, 587 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1991), that the single act of the use of a firearm in committing a robbery cannot form the basis of a separate conviction for the use of a firearm while committing a In the instant case, the district court specifically felony. found that there was only one action, one taking of the automo-The <u>Blockburger</u> test [and the "legislative intent" espoused in Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1989)] cannot be used to circumvent the constitutional protections against double jeopardy where only one crime in fact, one unlawful taking of the property of another, has occurred. See also Grady v. Corbin, 495 U.S. 508 (1990); Foster v. State, supra at 1111-1112 (Cowart, J., dissenting).

Also, <u>Houser v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1985) (a single death equals only one crime of either DUI Manslaughter or

Vehicular Homicide), and <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1991) (one death equals only one first degree murder, either premeditated or felony murder), conflict with the instant case in which the district court held that one taking equals two crimes. The core elements of theft and robbery, not the degree elements, must be used to determine the "identity of offense" double jeopardy issue.

These decisions, which conflict with the court's opinion in the instant case, all uphold the constitutional ban on double jeopardy. The opinion of the district court in <u>Sirmons</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the cases it relies on have failed to recognize and preserve this important state and federal constitutional right.

In conclusion, the opinion of the district court of appeal in the instant case is in direct and express conflict with decisions of this Court. This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to clarify the confusion caused by the conflict and return significance to the constitutions' double jeopardy provisions.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the petitioner requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction of this cause, vacate the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, and remand with instructions to vacate the duplicative conviction for grand theft.