OCT 26 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE SIRMONS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,545

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no conflict between this case and <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1992) or any other authority cited by the petitioner. <u>Johnson</u> did not address the specific legal question raised and addressed in the instant case. <u>Sirmons</u> does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of this court or another district court of appeal as required by Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). This court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS IN SIRMONS V. STATE, 603 SO.2D 82 (FLA. 5TH DCA 1992), EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA.

The petitioner, Jessie Sirmons ("Sirmons") claims the line of cases followed by the Fifth District in his case conflicts with another line of cases. Presumably, this latter line of cases includes <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1992), <u>Foster v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1991); <u>Houser v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1985), and <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1991).

In <u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) the Fifth District analyzed the present state of the law regarding double jeopardy. The court observed that <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1986) established that the determination of whether there may be cumulative convictions depends on whether each statute contains at least one element that the other does not. <u>Sirmons</u>, <u>supra</u> at 83. The Fifth District also recognized that this court receded from <u>Rodriguez</u> in <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) but <u>Carawan</u> was overridden by the legislative amendment of section 776.021(4), Florida Statutes, citing <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). <u>Sirmons</u>, <u>supra</u> at 83. Therefore, Rodriguez was once again the rule in Florida.

Rodriguez specifically held that grand theft is not a lesser included offense of robbery and a defendant can be convicted of both offenses. This is precisely what <u>Sirmons</u> holds, and these

cases are consistent. <u>Sirmons</u> is also consistent with cases in the Fourth District. <u>Huston v. State</u>, 557 So.2d 887 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>Collins v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 986 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

<u>Sirmons</u> does not conflict with <u>Johnson</u>. The question in <u>Johnson</u> was whether the defendant could be convicted of two counts of grand theft for taking one purse which contained two items. This court distinguished taking one purse with two items from taking two items (a calculator and gun during a house burglary). <u>Id.</u> at 799. The issue in <u>Johnson</u> was completely different from that in Sirmons.

Sirmons does not conflict with Foster. Foster involved the question whether a defendant can be convicted of both robbery and aggravated battery. The offenses occurred during the time Carawan was the law. Even using a Carawan analysis, both convictions were affirmed. Foster is completely distinguishable on the facts and on the law.

Sirmons does not conflict with <u>Cleveland</u>. That case involved whether a defendant could be convicted of armed robbery and possession of a firearm while committing the robbery. Cleveland's robbery conviction was enhanced because of the use of the firearm, and the firearm could not be used a second time to form the basis of a separate conviction. <u>Cleveland</u> does not present the same legal question as Sirmons.

<u>Sirmons</u> does not conflict with <u>Houser</u> or <u>Gaskin</u>. Those cases hold that only one homicide conviction may be imposed for a single death. These cases do not present the same legal question as Sirmons.

None of the cases cited by the petitioner address the same legal question decided in <u>Sirmons</u>. Even if they touch on the same subject, there is no direct and express conflict. Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) provides that discretionary jurisdiction may be sought to review decisions of District Courts that <u>expressly</u> and <u>directly</u> conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. The cases cited by the petitioner simply do not provide the basis for this court to accept jurisdiction.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, appellee respectfully prays this honorable court refuse to accept jurisdiction in the instant case.